BY-LAWS

OF THE

REGIONAL PLANNING BOARD

Adopted June 21, 2006

BY-LAWS OF THE REGIONAL PLANNING BOARD

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
ARTICLE ONE	Purpose of the Regional Planning Board	1
ARTICLE TWO	Definitions	1
ARTICLE THREE	Organization of the Regional Planning Board	2
ARTICLE FOUR	Citizens' Advisory Committee	7
ARTICLE FIVE	Procedures for Public Participation at Public Hearings, Board Meetings and Citizens' Advisory Committee Meetings	7
ARTICLE SIX	Powers of the Executive Director	8
ARTICLE SEVEN	Access to Public Records	8
ARTICLE EIGHT	Maintenance of Public Records	9
ARTICLE NINE	Miscellaneous	9

ARTICLE ONE Purpose of the Regional Planning Board

The Regional Planning Board ("RPB") was created by the Regional Planning Act (70 ILCS 1707/1 *et. seq.*) (the "Act"). The Act provides for the consolidation of two previously separate transportation and land-use planning agencies for and functioning in northeastern Illinois (respectively, the Chicago Area Transportation Study (CATS) and the Northeastern Illinois Planning Commission (NIPC)) into one agency, the RPB. The RPB was created to address the development and transportation challenges in Cook, DuPage, Kane, Kendall, Lake, McHenry and Will Counties.

ARTICLE TWO Definitions

As used in these By-Laws, the following terms shall mean:

- (a) Act means the Regional Planning Act, effective August 9, 2005, as amended now and hereafter.
- (b) Board means the fifteen voting members and the two non-voting members of the RPB.
- (c) Board member means a voting member or non-voting member of the RPB.
- (d) CATS means the Chicago Area Transportation Study.
- (e) CATS Policy Committee means the policy board of the Chicago Area Transportation Study.
- (f) Chairman means the Chairman of the Board.
- (g) Executive Director means the Executive Director of the Regional Planning Board.
- (h) NIPC means the Northeastern Illinois Planning Commission.
- (i) Northeastern Illinois region means Cook, DuPage, Kane, Kendall, Lake, McHenry, and Will Counties.
- (j) RPB means the Regional Planning Board created pursuant to the Act.

ARTICLE THREEOrganization of the Regional Planning Board

1. Composition of the Board

The RPB is governed by a board ("Board") consisting of the following 15 voting members and 2 non-voting members, all as appointed by the Regional Planning Act (the "Act") and serving for initial terms as follows:

- A. One member from DuPage County appointed cooperatively by the mayors of DuPage County and the chief elected county official of DuPage County with a term expiring on July 1, 2007.
- B. One member representing both Kane and Kendall Counties appointed cooperatively by the mayors of Kane County and Kendall County and the chief elected county officials of Kane County and Kendall County with a term expiring on July 1, 2007.
- C. One member from Lake County appointed cooperatively by the mayors of Lake County and the chief elected county official of Lake County with a term expiring on July 1, 2009.
- D. One member from McHenry County appointed cooperatively by the mayors of McHenry County and the chief elected county official of McHenry County with a term expiring on July 1, 2009.
- E. One member from Will County appointed cooperatively by the mayors of Will County and the chief elected county official of Will County with a term expiring on July 1, 2009.
- F. Five members from the City of Chicago appointed by the Mayor of the City of Chicago. As designated at the time of appointment, the terms of 2 of these members shall expire on July 1, 2007 and the terms of the other 3 members shall expire on July 1, 2009.
- G. One member from that portion of Cook County outside of the City of Chicago appointed by the President of the Cook County Board of Commissioners with a term expiring on July 1, 2007.
- H. Four members from that portion of Cook County outside of the City of Chicago appointed, with the consent of the President of the Cook County Board of Commissioners, as follows:
 - 1) One by the mayors representing those communities in Cook County that are outside of the City of Chicago and north of Devon Avenue with a term expiring on July 1, 2007.

- 2) One by the mayors representing those communities in Cook County that are outside of the City of Chicago, south of Devon Avenue, and north of Interstate 55, and in addition the Village of Summit with a term expiring on July 1, 2009.
- One by the mayors representing those communities in Cook County that are outside of the City of Chicago, south of Interstate 55, and west of Interstate 57, excluding the communities of Summit, Dixmoor, Posen, Robbins, Midlothian, Oak Forest, and Tinley Park with a term expiring on July 1, 2007.
- 4) One by the mayors representing those communities in Cook County that are outside of the City of Chicago and east of Interstate 57, and, in addition, the communities of Dixmoor, Posen, Robbins, Midlothian, Oak Forest, and Tinley Park with a term expiring on July 1, 2009.
- I. The CATS Policy Committee and NIPC shall each appoint one of their members to serve as a non-voting member of the RPB.

2. Terms

After the initial terms set forth in 1. above have expired, Board members shall hold a term of 4 years or until successors are appointed and qualified.

3. Vacancies

If a vacancy occurs, the appropriate appointing authority shall fill the vacancy by an appointment for the unexpired term.

4. Compensation

Board members shall receive no compensation, but shall be reimbursed for expenses incurred in the performance of their duties.

5. Attendance by Video or Audio Conference

Board members or committee members may attend a Board or committee meeting via audio or video conference as permitted under the Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 1201/1, et seq.), now and as hereafter amended.

6. Quorum

A majority of the voting Board members holding office shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of convening a meeting of the Board. However, the affirmative votes of at least 4/5 of the voting Board members in office is necessary for the Board to take any action, including remanding regional plans with comments to the policy board of the Chicago Area Transportation Study (CATS). A Board member or committee member who attends

a meeting via telephone (as provided in 5. above) is considered present for purposes of determining a quorum.

7. Voting

- A. Yeas and nays shall be taken on any resolution or ordinance of the RPB and shall be included in the record of the meeting.
- B. The affirmative votes of at least 4/5 of the voting Board members in office is necessary for the Board to take any action, including remanding regional plans with comments to the policy board of the Chicago Area Transportation Study (CATS) and the Northeastern Illinois Planning Commission (NIPC). A Board member or committee member who attends a meeting via telephone (as provided in 5. above) is considered present for purposes of voting.

8. Regular Meetings and Time and Place of Meetings

Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at least once in each calendar quarter. The time and place of Board meetings shall be fixed by resolution of the Board.

9. Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Board may be called by the chairman or a majority of the Board members.

10. Notice to Board Members

A written notice of the time and place of any special meeting shall be provided to all Board members at least 96 hours prior to the date fixed for the meeting by regular mail, e-mail or facsimile, except that if the time and place of a special meeting is fixed at a regular meeting at which all Board members are present, no such written notice is required.

11. Chairman and Vice Chairmen

At its initial meeting and its first regular meeting after July 1 of each year thereafter, the Board shall appoint from its membership a chairman, a first vice chairman and a second vice chairman who will all serve until their successors are appointed. The first vice chairman shall act as chairman during the absence or disability of the chairman and in case of resignation or death of the chairman and shall carry out such other duties as designated by resolution of the Board. If the first vice chairman is unavailable to take on such duties, the second vice chairman shall act as chairman during the absence or disability of the chairman and in case of resignation or death of the chairman and shall carry out such other duties as designated by resolution of the Board.

12. Agenda Development and Distribution For Board Meetings

- A. Before a Board meeting, the Chairman shall review a tentative agenda prepared by the Executive Director and set a final agenda for the upcoming Board meeting. Board members' requests to place an item on the agenda shall be made to the Executive Director or the Chairman at least 96 hours prior to the date fixed for the meeting.
- B. The Executive Director shall provide the agenda for each regular meeting to all Board members at least 72 hours before such meeting. The Executive Director shall also provide to each Member a draft of each ordinance or resolution to be proposed for action of the Board at least 72 hours before such meeting. The agenda for such meeting shall be posted at the principal office of the RPB and at the location where the meeting will be held, at least 48 hours before such meeting. Revisions to the agenda may be made by the Chairman or by a majority of the Board not less than 72 hours prior to the meeting, including addition to the agenda of items requiring adoption of an ordinance or resolution at the meeting, provided, however, that a copy of each ordinance or resolution is also made available to each Member.

13. Minutes of Board and Committee Meetings

Written minutes of all Board and committee meetings shall be prepared. Such minutes shall include, but need not be limited to:

- 1) the date, time and place of the meeting;
- 2) the members recorded as either present or absent (if any members attended via audio or video conference, the minutes of such meetings must state which members were physically present and which members were present via audio or video conference); and
- 3) a summary or discussion on all matters proposed, deliberated or decided, and a record of any votes taken.

Board members may request that specific comments be included in the minutes.

Minutes of all meetings open to the public shall be maintained on file by the Executive Director.

Minutes of prior meetings open to the public and prior meetings closed to the public shall be furnished to Board members in the advance Board packages for review and approval at the ensuing Board meeting.

Minutes of meetings open to the public shall be available for public inspection during the regular business hours of the RPB at the principal office of the RPB within 7 days of the approval of such minutes. Minutes of meetings closed to the public shall be placed in a

confidential file and available for public inspection only after the Board determines that it is no longer necessary to protect the public interest or the privacy of an individual by keeping them confidential.

The Board shall periodically, but no less than semi-annually, meet to review minutes of all closed meetings. At such meetings a determination shall be made, and reported in an open session that (1) the need for confidentiality still exists as to all or part of those minutes or (2) that the minutes or portions thereof no longer require confidential treatment and are available for public inspection.

14. Compliance with the Open Meeting Act

All meetings of the Board and committees shall be held in compliance with the Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 1201/1, et seq.), now and as hereafter amended.

15. Board Committees

The committees of the Board make recommendations to the Board and the Board takes all actions for the RPB. The committees of the Board are as follows:

- A. Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall (i) manage the day-to-day operations of the RPB; (ii) review and direct the activities of the other committees of the RPB; (iii) make recommendations on an executive director; (iv) with the Board, develop strategic plans and policies for the RPB for the Board's final approval; and (v) with the Board, develop a funding plan for the RPB for the Board's final approval.
- B. Transition Committee. The Transition Committee shall (i) develop an internal staff organization plan and (ii) ensure ongoing work of NIPC and CATS continues.
- C. Planning and Priorities Committee. The Planning and Priorities Committee shall (i) establish regional priorities; (ii) present the funding and implementation strategy the RPB is charged with developing and adopting in Section 15(a) of the Act; and articulate the vision of integrated land use and transportation planning.
- D Public Participation Committee. The Public Participation Committee shall (i) create a Citizen Involvement Plan to improve public representation in the development of regional transportation plans and policies and (ii) coordinate public relations efforts.
- E. Any other committees created by the Board. Such committees shall have such duties as the Board designates.

The Board can change the duties of any committee or dissolve any committee at any time. The Chairman shall appoint members to committees and designate committee chairmen at the beginning of each calendar year. The chairman of each committee shall serve for the balance

of the calendar year and until a successor is appointed. The chairman of any committee may be reappointed as chairman of the committee.

Any question of committee jurisdiction over an issue shall be raised with the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE FOUR Citizens' Advisory Committee

Pursuant to Section 40(c) of the Act, a standing Citizens' Advisory Committee will be created by the Board to provide continuous and balanced public representation in the development of regional plans and policies. The Public Participation Committee shall screen applications from persons interested in serving on the Citizens' Advisory Committee and make recommendations to the Board regarding how many members should be on the Citizens' Advisory Committee and who should serve on the Citizens' Advisory Committee.

ARTICLE FIVE

Procedures for Public Participation at Public Hearings, Board Meetings and Citizens' Advisory Committee Meetings

1. Applicability

In connection with its review and development of any regional plans and prior to any plan's approval, the Board must hold a public hearing. Notice of the time, date, and place set for the hearing must be published in a newspaper having a general circulation within the northeastern Illinois region at least 30 days prior to the date of the hearing. The notice must contain a short explanation of the purpose of the hearing. The hearing may be continued, as deemed necessary by the Board.

Procedures for public hearings, Board meetings and Citizens' Advisory Committee meetings set forth in this Article shall apply to all such hearings and meetings under the Act, except as otherwise noted herein. Hearings required under any statute or regulation of the United States or the State of Illinois shall be held under this part to the extent consistent with such statute or regulation.

2. Participation

Any person may participate in a public hearing, Board meeting or Citizens' Advisory Committee meeting by oral presentation at the hearing, or by submitting written material within 24 hours of the close of the hearing. The chairman or presiding officer shall have the power to restrict the presentation of any person desiring to participate in the hearing or meeting to oral presentation or to submission of written materials, and to impose any other reasonable limitations upon the conduct of such public hearing or meeting as necessary to effectuate its purpose. The chairman or presiding officer shall limit any individual speaker's testimony to five minutes; provided that the chairman or presiding officer shall have the sole discretion on whether to grant speaker's request for additional time.

3. Notice

A. Notice of each public hearing shall be given by posting a copy of such notice at the principal office of the RPB, and by giving notice to those news media which have filed a request for public notices pursuant to law. Notice of any hearing to be held to comply with a statute or regulation of the United States or the State of Illinois also shall be given at the time and in the manner required by such statute or regulation Any hearing may be adjourned to a later time by announcing at the hearing the time and place at which the hearing will be reconvened.

4. Conduct of Hearings

The presiding officer for each hearing shall be designated by the Chairman, and shall be a Board member or officer or employee of the RPB.

5. Records of Hearings

Minutes for each hearing and copies of all written materials submitted in connection with each hearing shall be maintained by the Executive Director.

ARTICLE SIX Powers of the Executive Director

- 1. In addition to those powers provided by law, ordinance or resolution of the Board, the Executive Director:
 - A. shall hire deputy directors and other employees as needed.
 - B. shall have the authority to enter into contractual commitments where the total of the compensation provided under such commitment or the compensation to that provider of contractual services under all other contractual commitments made within the fiscal year does not exceed \$25,000.

ARTICLE SEVEN Access to Public Records

The RPB shall grant access to public records in compliance with the Freedom of Information Act (5 ILCS 140/1 *et seq.*), now and as hereafter amended.

ARTICLE EIGHT Maintenance of Public Records

The RPB shall maintain records in accordance with the provisions of the State Records Act (5 ILCS 160/1 *et. seq.*), now and as hereafter amended.

ARTICLE NINE Miscellaneous

1. Annual Report

The Board shall prepare, publish, and distribute an annual report and any other reports and plans that relate to the purpose of this Act.

2. Amendments

These By-Laws may be amended or repealed by the affirmative votes of at least 4/5 of the voting Board members in office at a special or regular meeting, provided that the proposed amendments to these By-laws or a notice stating that the Board seeks to repeal these By-laws (whichever is applicable) is sent to the Board members at least 30 days before said meeting.

3. Parliamentary Authority

Except where inconsistent with the provisions of the Act or these By-Laws, Robert's Rules of Order shall govern the conduct of all meetings of the Board and the committees.

4. Effective Date

These By-Laws shall be effective upon approval of at least 4/5 of the voting Board members then in office.